STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

ORIGINAL

Certiorari to Spartanburg County

Honorable Paul M. Burch, Circuit Court Judge

MARION ALEXANDER LINDSEY,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2019-001271

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

LARA M. CAUDY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

RECEIVED
JAN 17 2019
S.C. SUPREME COURT

ISSUES PRESENTED

1.

Whether the PCR court, in flagrant disregard of this Court's remand Order and Petitioner Lindsey's rights under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and under state law, erred in twice adopting the Attorney General's proposed orders of dismissal under circumstances that show the PCR court failed to consider Lindsey's grounds for PCR and did even not read the proposed order before signing it?

2.

Whether trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance, in derogation of the Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution by failing to conduct an adequate mitigation investigation and failing to prepare and present an adequate mitigation case at trial especially where counsel did not hire a social work expert who could testify regarding petitioner's miserable upbringing, where counsel hired an inexperienced forensic psychiatrist on month before trial, and then failed to prepare her to testify to petitioner's considerable prejudice?

3.

Whether trial Counsel rendered ineffective assistance, in derogation of the Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution by failing to hire a prison adaptability expert who would have rebutted the state's aggravation and future dangerousness evidence against petitioner by testifying petitioner did not pose an unreasonable risk of harm to prison staff, other inmates, or the community?

ARGUMENT

1.

The PCR court, in flagrant disregard of this Court's remand Order and Petitioner Lindsey's rights under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and under state law, erred in twice adopting the Attorney General's proposed orders of dismissal under circumstances that show the PCR court failed to consider Lindsey's grounds for PCR and did even not read the proposed order before signing it.

Introduction

Petitioner Marion Lindsey's death penalty PCR case is before this Court for the second time. Five years ago, after examining the compelling evidence leading to the dispiriting conclusion that the PCR judge did not review the state's proposed order before signing it, this Court attempted to correct what was an embarrassment to the reputation of our state's bar and its lower court judiciary. In an extraordinary step required by the sad circumstances below, this Court remanded the case back to the PCR judge to draft his own order and comply with constitutional requirements. Instead of taking advantage of the lifeline offered by this Court, the PCR judge, with the express encouragement of the Attorney General, "doubled down" on the original severe constitutional errors and has again left its mess at this Court's doorstep. Petitioner's case will continue to be a blight on South Carolina's judicial history unless, once again, this Court takes decisive action.

The First PCR Order and this Court's Remand

In Petitioner Lindsey's petition for certiorari filed in 2012, petitioner asserted that the PCR court's signing of a verbatim proposed order submitted by the Attorney General under circumstances that sadly indicated the judge had not read the order before signing it violated

state and federal due process. On May 2, 2011, the PCR court requested a proposed order from the state. App. 3537. The court did not request a proposed order from petitioner at the same time. App. 3537. On August 10, 2011, Judge Burch signed the state's proposed Order of Dismissal. Except for striking through the month on the signature page, the PCR court made *no changes* to the state's proposed order. App. 3727.

Unlike other cases in which the adoption of proposed orders by a PCR judge were approved, here the vast number of typographical errors in the Attorney General's proposed order that went uncorrected in the signed order cast grave doubt on whether the judge even read the order at all. Petitioner cited examples of the identical errors in his original petition, including:

1. Eight (8) sentence fragments (See, e.g., App. 3569 (“A violent tempered criminal involved in the drug trade.”));
2. Thirty-six (36) spelling errors (See, e.g., App.3550 (“the” spelled “th”));
3. Eight (8) incorrect subject/verb agreements (See, e.g., App. 3596 (“This was not neglect by counsel, but reflect a conscious decision on counsel Bartosh’s part on this issue.”));
4. Nine (9) incorrect tense agreements (See, e.g., App. 3645 (“she [sic] received information from him that he worked at Burger King where his brothers work but lost that job, then worked for United Cloth in Spartanburg.”));
5. Four (4) references to the document as a “pleading” or “argument” (See, e.g., App. 3555 (“within this pleading”));
6. Forty-eight (48) capitalization or punctuation errors (See, e.g., App. 3650 (sentence begins without a capital letter: “she described....”)).

The best example of the errors that polluted the first order were found on page 153. App. 3688. That single page contained a sentence fragment, tense agreement errors, and the substitution of the word “shit” for “shift.” App. 3688.

Petitioner argued that the action (and inaction) of the PCR court deprived him of due process and a full and fair hearing before an impartial tribunal. Petitioner cited precedent from the United States Supreme Court, this Court, and other state courts criticizing the practice of wholesale adoption of proposed orders in capital PCRs. Jefferson v. Upton, 560 U.S. 284 (2010); Anderson v. Bessemer City, 470 U.S. 564 (1985); Hall v. Catoe, 360 S.C. 353, 601 S.E.2d 335 (2004); Pruitt v. State, 310 S.C. 254, 423 S.E.2d 127 (1992); Commonwealth v. Williams, 732 A.2d 1167 (Pa. 1999); Dobyne v. State, 805 So.2d 733 (Ala. Crim. App. 2000).
Petition for writ of certiorari at 105-110.

In Jefferson, the United States Supreme Court dealt with the state PCR court’s verbatim adoption of an *ex parte* proposed order. Jefferson, 560 U.S. at 292-93. The proposed order in petitioner’s case was not *ex parte*, but does not change the critical portion of the analysis here. The Supreme Court remanded the case, stating, “Although we have stated that a court’s ‘verbatim adoption of findings of fact prepared by the prevailing parties’ should be treated as findings of the court, we have also criticized that practice.” Id. (quoting Anderson, 470 U.S. at 572).

This Court also recognized the inherent problems with proposed orders and, on two occasions prior to the execution of the Order in petitioner’s case, warned PCR judges against wholesale adoption of proposed orders. In Pruitt v. State, the Court stated:

We take this opportunity to express our concern with the increasing number of orders in PCR proceedings that fail to address the merits of the issues raised by the applicant. . . . Counsel preparing proposed orders should be meticulous in doing so, opposing counsel should call any omissions to the

attention of the PCR judge prior to the issuance of the order, and the PCR judge should carefully review the order prior to signing it.

310 S.C. 254, 255-56, 423 S.E.2d 127, 128 (1992). Despite the Court's admonishment in Pruitt, the practice continued. This Court again was forced to address this issue in Hall v. Catoe, stating:

Although we strongly encourage PCR judges to draft their own findings of fact and conclusions of law in death penalty cases, we also acknowledge that in all other cases, it is common practice for judges to ask a party to draft a proposed order for the sake of efficiency.

360 S.C. 353, 365, 601 S.E.2d 335, 341 (2004). In Hall, the Court found that the evidence indicated that the PCR judge "spent an adequate amount of time reviewing the order before adopting it." Id.

Other state courts also expressly disapprove of the verbatim adoption of proposed orders in capital cases. "We cannot . . . in this post-conviction case involving a review of the propriety of a death sentence, condone the wholesale adoption by the post-conviction court of an advocate's brief." Commonwealth v. Williams, 732 A.2d 1167, 1176 (Pa. 1999); see also Dobyne v. State, 805 So.2d 733, 741 (Ala. Crim. App. 2000) (criticizing practice and quoting Anderson).

In its return to petitioner's 2012 petition, the Attorney General improvidently challenged petitioner's assertion about the vast number of identical errors. Return, p. 110. Petitioner therefore included in his reply an exhibit with a catalogue of 155 identical errors (hereinafter, the "Catalogue of Errors"). After the reply and Catalogue of Errors were filed, this Court then considered whether to grant certiorari.

On September 30, 2014, instead of granting certiorari, this Court took the extraordinary step of vacating the PCR court's Order and remanded the case. Supp. App. II. at 1. This Court

stated, “In light of the Court’s concern with the frequency and severity of the drafting errors in the Order of Dismissal, and this Court’s admonishments to PCR judges in [Pruitt] and [Hall], we vacate the Order of Dismissal and remand the matter to the circuit court for the issuance of an amended order that complies with Pruitt and Hall and with S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-80 (2003), to include specific findings of fact and conclusions of law on each issue presented, based on accurate references to the record and the applicable law.” Supp. App. II at 1. This Court’s remand Order was unanimous. Supp. App. II at 1.

The PCR Court and the State Ignore this Court’s Instructions Post-Remand

Relying on this Court’s strong language and citation to Pruitt and Hall, counsel for petitioner sent a letter to the Attorney General stating, “It is my interpretation of the Order that it forbids the submission or solicitation of a proposed order from the parties.” Supp. App. II at 3. Counsel for petitioner copied PCR Judge Burch on the letter. Supp. App. II at 3. Nevertheless, on February 26, 2015, Judge Burch’s law clerk emailed the parties asking for “Microsoft Word versions of the proposed orders submitted after the PCR hearing.” Supp. App. II at 17.

Counsel for petitioner responded within an hour objecting to the submission of proposed orders, citing this Court’s remand order. Supp App. II at 20. However, the Attorney General responded two minutes earlier. Supp. App. II at 23. The Attorney General attached the proposed order in electronic format. Supp. App. II at 23. Incredibly, the Attorney General also attached the Catalogue of Errors prepared by petitioner’s counsel. Supp. App. II at 23. The Attorney General wrote Judge Burch, “I do not recall making any other corrections to the best of my recollection *to other typographical errors which were pointed out* to the Supreme Court in Mr. Dudek and Mr. Alexander’s Reply to the Return to the Petition for Writ of Certiorari *which I am*

also attaching for your information.” Supp. App. II at 23 (emphasis added). The Attorney General gave the PCR judge a list (compiled by defense counsel) of errors to fix.

Petitioner filed a “Petition for Extraordinary Relief” in this Court the same day. Supp. App. II at 7. Petitioner argued that the request for the electronic copy of the Attorney General’s proposed order showed its intent to violate Hall, Pruitt, and the remand order and simply cut and paste a new order. Supp. App. II at 11-12. Petitioner requested a new PCR hearing before a new judge. Supp. App. II at 12. This Court denied the Petition for Extraordinary Relief. Supp. App. II at 89.

Petitioner’s prediction in the Petition for Extraordinary Relief came true. The PCR court filed an Amended Order Denying Post-Conviction Relief which differed only slightly from the original Order. Supp. App. II at 97-283. The primary difference between the original Order and the Amended Order was only the correction of the errors pointed out by petitioner in the Catalogue of Errors. Supp. App. II at 97-283. It contained no substantive changes from the state’s proposed order. It contained no new factual findings. It contained no new legal conclusions. It cited no new cases. Almost every sentence had exactly the same wording. The most significant change between the state’s proposed order and the Amended Order was that the Amended Order *italicized* case names instead of underlining them.

Petitioner’s line-by-line comparison of the Amended Order and original Order did reveal a few other minor stylistic and typographical corrections, including:

- a. Italicizing instead of underlining case names in citations;
- b. Decreasing the point size of the footnotes;
- c. Altering outline formats from bullet points or roman numerals to letters;
- d. Bolding some headings and un-bolding other headings;

e. Altering spacing in headings.

The Amended Order corrected some typographical errors petitioner did not include in the Catalogue of Errors; however, many typographical errors petitioner did not catch were not fixed. For example, a sentence on page 109 (Supp. App. II at 205) of the Amended Order (and the original Order, App. 3648), reads: “She confirmed that she was not an expert in mental health area.”

These “biggest” differences between the original Order and the Amended Order demonstrate the lack of any significant difference at all. Page 58 of the original Order (App. 3593) and page 56 of the Amended Order (Supp. App. II at 152) contain the most significant change between the two documents that was not suggested in petitioner’s Catalogue of Errors. The original Order states: “Although he has recanted presently after the fact of his conviction and sentence, the blame does not rest at prior counsel’s feet as current counsel now speculate.” App. 3593 (emphasis added). The Amended Order’s version is: “Although he has recanted presently after the fact of his conviction and sentence, the blame does not rest on prior counsel’s shoulders.” Supp. App. II at 152 (emphasis added). The single biggest difference between the two documents is whether “shoulders” or “feet” should bear no blame.

Because his prediction came to pass, petitioner renewed his Petition for Extraordinary Relief in this Court. Supp. App. II at 284. Three days later, petitioner also filed a “Motion for a Stay, for a New PCR Hearing Before a Different Circuit Judge, and, Alternatively, to Alter or Amend the Judgment Pursuant to Rule 59(e). Supp. App. II at 316-17. This Court requested petitioner to inform it of all pending matters in the case and on March 24, 2016, counsel wrote listing the Renewed Petition and the motion in circuit court. Supp. App. II at 383. The next day, this Court denied the Renewed Petition which left the circuit court a final chance to correct the

constitutional flaws inherent in once again adopting the state's proposed order in full. Supp. App. II at 386.

The PCR Court's Hearings on Petitioner Lindsey's Motions

The PCR court held a hearing on petitioner's motions on September 22, 2016. Supp. App. II at 389. Petitioner first argued Judge Burch should vacate the Amended Order and recuse himself with the result being a new PCR hearing before a different circuit judge. Supp. App. II at 392, ll. 14-18. Judge Burch denied the motion to recuse, which will be discussed in Issue 2 of this petition. Supp. App. II at 408, ll. 4-7.

Petitioner stated the facts showing the PCR court failed to read the first order and did not comply with this Court's remand Order or due process. Supp. App. II at 392, l. 19-395, l. 7. The court violated due process by wholly substituting "the judgment of the Attorney General, an advocate, for the judgment of the Court and deprives Marion Lindsey of his right to a hearing and a decision from a neutral arbitrator." Supp. App. II at 396, ll. 6-13. Petitioner argued it was now impossible for the PCR court to draft its own order because of the passage of time. Supp. App. II at 395, l. 3-397, l. 9. Petitioner further argued that if the Amended Order were left in place and not reversed on this ground alone, it would be accorded no deference either at this Court or in federal habeas review. Supp. App. II at 394, ll. 6-23.

During the Attorney General's argument in response, he mentioned petitioner's letter stating the interpretation of this Court's remand Order that it forbade solicitation or submission of proposed orders after the remand. Supp. App. II at 396, l. 20-400, l. 5. Judge Burch then stated, "I vehemently disagree with Appellate Defense in making, in making that statement. No where have I read that." Supp. App. II at 400, ll. 6-9.

The Attorney General failed to point to any substantive difference between the proposed order, the original Order, and the Amended Order. Supp. App. II at 402, l. 1-405, l. 18. Instead, the Attorney General argued, “The order did include some—*it wasn’t an exact replica* of the word document which we submitted to you and it was essentially done after a significant period of time.” Supp. App. II at 402, ll. 1-5 (emphasis added). The state acknowledged Hall’s directive concerning proposed orders, but then argued that because the “significant period of time” between the remand and the issuance of the Amended Order was sufficient for the PCR court’s review, Hall and Pruitt’s requirements “were satisfied for the purposes of the remand.” Supp. App. II at 402, l. 6-403, l. 7. The Attorney General also argued that a presumption should exist that a judge has reviewed a proposed order before signing it, but did not cite any specific evidence or example showing meaningful review. Supp. App. II at 404, l. 10-405, l. 18. Petitioner replied, “I don’t know of any other way to interpret the Supreme Court’s remand order when it’s read together with Hall and Pruitt is that it intended the Court to draft its own order. The amended order in place is identical, in all material respects, to the original order, and I don’t believe that the Supreme Court sent this case back in a death penalty case merely as a proofreading exercise.” Supp. App. II. at 406, ll. 1-11.

The PCR judge stated, “When I received that first set of proposed orders from both sides, I’m known as a speed reader.” Supp. App. II at 407, ll. 4-5. Judge Burch took “a couple of courses about speed reading” on the suggestion of Judge Kinard. Supp. App. II at 407, ll. 5-7. Judge Burch stated he “went through those orders probably too hastily and I didn’t make any corrections because of that. I admit that. But the base order was exactly as I, as I saw the case that was presented to me.” Supp. App. II at 407, ll. 4-11.

Regarding preparation of the Amended Order post-remand, Judge Burch stated that he and his law clerk spent numerous hours “going through all these documents.” Supp. App. II at 407, ll. 12-14. The PCR judge then said he left some errors in the document on purpose:

And even after we loaded the final proposed order, and after all my changes and adjustments, after we loaded that, I even instructed [my law clerk] *to not make some corrections on purpose* to prove to everyone that could possibly be concerned on this case that I was involved in redrafting that order and there were many changes made.

As I said, I purposely asked him *to leave some errors in there so I could initial them* to prove that point, and I even took the extra step **to call the Clerk of the Supreme Court** to let them know over there that I had purposely done that to prove what I’m stating.

Supp. App. II at 407, ll. 14-24 (emphasis added).

After hearing arguments on the Rule 59(e) motion, Judge Burch took the matter under advisement. Supp. App. II at 415, ll. 11-13. The PCR court stated, “I’m not gonna put Appellate’s or Applicant’s counsel in a precarious situation by asking for proposed orders. I think I can handle that on my own, but, once again, I certainly disagree with any proposition that trial judges can not ask for proposed orders.” Supp. App. II at 415, ll. 13-17. The court said that without proposed orders, the judicial system “would lock down” because of a lack of resources. Supp. App. II at 415, ll. 17-21. Judge Burch then asked for “very brief briefs” from the parties. Supp. App. II at 415, ll. 22-23. Petitioner and the state filed supplemental memoranda. Supp. App. 431 and 442.

Almost two-and-a-half years passed between the above-described hearing and the next hearing, held February 20, 2019. Supp. App. II at 493. Petitioner briefly restated the failure to comply with due process and this Court’s remand Order. Supp. App. II at 496, l. 14-497, l. 7. Judge Burch again stated his disagreement with petitioner “that we just simply copied something

here.” Supp. App. II at 497, ll. 8-15. The court explained that the delay was because his law clerk suffered a severe illness and that the court also became ill. Supp. App. II at 497, l. 15-498, l. 3.

The Attorney General restated its position and near the conclusion of his argument, stated, “Now you ask how we can bring this matter to completion. I would submit that to expedite the process, I know he may object, but to ask each side for a proposed order.” Supp. App. II at 500, ll. 5-10.

Petitioner again argued that in addition to the original due process concerns regarding the proposed order, that it had been “almost nine years since the last PCR witness testified” and “over 16 years since the crime.” Supp. App. II at 501, ll. 13-19. Petitioner argued that due process required a new PCR hearing. Supp. App. II at 501, ll. 6-19. Judge Burch stood by his prior ruling and reasoned that this Court had not “barred asking for proposed orders.” Supp. App. II at 501, l. 20-502, l. 11.

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