RECEIVED

Jul 28 2020

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Common Pleas

CAPITAL PCR ACTION

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Honorable Paul M. Burch, Circuit Court Judge

MARION ALEXANDER LINDSEY PETITIONER

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA RESPONDENT.

Appellate Case No. 2019-001271

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 14244

MICHAEL D. ROSS
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 73986

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

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

In sum, Lindsey fails to show any error much less bias or impropriety by Judge Burch. Certiorari review is not warranted.

II.

The record supports that Lindsey failed to carry his burden of showing either deficient performance or prejudice in counsel’s mitigation investigation and presentation of evidence when Lindsey failed to show any missed line of mitigation, and the items of evidence he suggested counsel missed would not significantly alter the mitigation case presented at trial

Introduction to Argument:

Lindsey complains counsel did not present available mitigation evidence; failed to employ and present a social worker; and did not properly prepare the expert presented. The record shows factual and legal support for the denial of relief upon a reasonable and correct application of the *Strickland* test. Lindsey neither showed that counsel was deficient nor a reasonably probability of a different result existed.

Relevant Law:

“An ineffective assistance claim has two components: A petitioner must show that counsel’s performance was deficient, and that the deficiency prejudiced the defense.” *Wiggins v. Smith*, 539 U.S. 510, 521 (2003) (citing *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984)). To show the required prejudice, a death-sentenced petitioner must show “there is a reasonable probability that, absent the errors, the sentencer—including an appellate court, to the extent it independently reweighs the evidence—would have concluded that the balance of aggravating and mitigating circumstances did not warrant death.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 695.

“A ‘reasonable probability’ is less than a preponderance of the evidence but still ‘a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.’ ” *Weik v. State*, 409 S.C. 214, 233–34, 761 S.E.2d 757, 767 (2014) (quoting *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 693-94). “Prejudice is established where “there is a reasonable probability that at least one juror would have struck a different balance.” *Id.* (quoting *Wiggins*, 539 U.S. at 537).

The Supreme Court has recognized that “counsel have an ‘obligation to conduct a thorough investigation of the defendant’s background,” *Williams v. Taylor*, 529 U.S. 362, 396 (2000).¹¹ However, *Strickland* deficient performance is not shown merely by producing additional mitigation evidence in collateral proceedings. *See Bobby v. Van Hook*, 558 U.S. 4, 11

¹¹ Before addressing the substance of the allegations, Lindsey argues Judge Burch “erred in refusing to use the ABA Guidelines as tools to determine the prevailing professional norms.” (Petition, p. 32). Lindsey characterizes Judge Burch’s treatment as conveying “dismissiveness.” (Petition, p. 32). The record shows Lindsey is incorrect. Judge Burch acknowledged that the guidelines were not dispositive to constitutionally deficient performance, but repeatedly considered the guidelines as part of the arguments for deficient performance. (See II Supp. App. pp. 112, 131, 152, 183, 196). This is correct. “*Strickland* itself rejected the notion that the same investigation will be required in every case.” *Cullen v. Pinholster*, 563 U.S. 170, 195–96 (2011) (citing *Strickland*, at 691). Respondent submits Lindsey’s argument is premised on incorrect reading of the Order. To the extent Lindsey seeks to elevate the utility of the guidelines over and above what the Supreme Court precedent allows, his argument lacks support.

(2009) (“there comes a point at which evidence from more distant relatives can reasonably be expected to be only cumulative”); *see also Wong v. Belmontes*, 558 U.S. 15, 28 (2009) (rejecting notion of a different result “if only Schick had put on more than the nine witnesses he did”). It does not turn, even, on “whether counsel should have presented a mitigation case.” *Wiggins*, 539 U.S. at 523. Rather, the critical consideration is whether counsel conducted a *reasonably thorough* investigation.¹² *See Wiggins*, 539 U.S. at 533 (“*Strickland* does not require counsel to investigate every conceivable line of mitigating evidence....”). If not, the next question is whether – when all the evidence is considered at the whole – mitigation and aggravation, omitted and admitted at trial – the petitioner has shown a reasonable probability of a different result. *Belmontes*, 558 U.S. at 26 (prejudice analysis requires consideration of all evidence, including additional evidence in aggravation that may be introduced) (citing *Strickland*, 466 U. S. at 695-96). If the omitted evidence “would barely have altered the sentencing profile presented to the sentencing judge,” the applicant has not shown sufficient evidence of prejudice. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 700.

Discussion:

Lindsey makes three arguments. First, he argues counsel failed to spend sufficient time in preparation; second, he argues counsel omitted critical mitigation; and, third, he argues counsel failed to properly prepare his expert, Dr. Melikian.¹³ (See Petition, pp. 37-38, 45, and 47). The record supports that there was an adequate and revealing investigation, reliance on

¹² As a practical, and logical, matter, it is an unattainable standard to require counsel to find *all* potential mitigation lest counsel be held constitutionally deficient in performance. That universe of facts can neither be fully defined nor accurately identified. Thus, it is the *reasonable* attempt to find mitigation that must be considered for a *Strickland* claim.

¹³ Lindsey complains the PCR court misconstrued his argument below as “counsel failed to spend enough time investigating and preparing a mitigation case.” (Petition, p. 31; *see also* Petition, p. 36 and II Supp. App. p. 409, lines 4-12). The PCR court simply answered the question Lindsey posed. (See II Supp. App. pp. 267-272).

experts, and that there was a fulsome defense presentation in sentencing; but, critically, the record supports the PCR court's finding that Lindsey failed to show the proffered testimony not presented at trial undermined confidence in the verdict. The PCR court also correctly recognized that some of the additional pieces of evidence fall into the "double-edged sword" category that could well have added to the evidence in aggravation. (II Supp. App. pp. 161, 185 and 191).¹⁴ *See Truesdale v. Moore*, 142 F.3d 749, 755 (4th Cir. 1998) (counsel's strategy reasonable in omission of evidence that "might as easily have condemned Truesdale to death as excused his actions.>"). The record supports the judge's determination that Lindsey was not entitled to relief.

To show error, Lindsey argues the PCR court erred in its prejudice analysis by resolving some evidence was discovered and presented, (Petition, p. 39); and, also argues, that the PCR court "ignored the evidence and witnesses that trial counsel should have presented to the jury at sentencing." (Petition, p. 39). Factually, his position is unsustainable. The PCR judge set out in detail the evidence presented at the sentencing phase. (See II Supp. App. pp. 112-130). The PCR judge compared what was received at trial and what was presented in PCR. (See II Supp. App. pp. 195-259). The PCR judge then concluded:

This Court finds that the investigation concerning the social history of the family was constitutionally adequate. In addition ... the 2004 defense team was aware that there had been mental health concerns for Bessie Smith who had tried to commit suicide, and Steve Pilgrim who at least had nerve and anxiety problems.

...

[Lindsey] has failed to show what material counsel was unaware of that was critical to the defense, just that in depth evidence was not presented. However, he has failed to show that counsel's investigation of the family background was unreasonable.

¹⁴ South Carolina is not a "weighing" state. Any evidence presented may be considered as aggravating and need not go to support a specific statutory aggravating factor. *See State v. Bellamy*, 359 S.E.2d 63, 65 (S.C. 1987), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Torrence*, 406 S.E.2d 315 (S.C. 1991) ("A jury should not be instructed to 'weigh' the aggravating circumstances against the mitigating circumstances") (citing *State v. Plath*, 281 S.C. 1, 313 S.E.2d 619 (1984)).

(II Supp. App. pp. 259-260).

Lindsey cannot show any conclusion that remotely resembles the PCR court denied relief because “some” evidence was developed and presented at trial. Nor can he show error in the fact-finding.

As to relevant factual findings, the findings are spread throughout the order as Lindsey’s present issue is a blending of several claims, (II Supp. App. pp. 105-107, claims 2, 3, 4, 5, 7 and 8; see also II Supp. p. 195); however, the following resolutions by the PCR court are relevant:

- As to Lindsey Issue 2, failing to challenge evidence of malingering, and failure to call Dr. Brawley: Lindsey’s malingering as reported by State evaluators was addressed by Dr. Melikian; and results by Dr. Brawley were presented through Dr. Melikian, (II Supp. App. p. 155);
- As to Lindsey Issue 3, failing to adequately present evidence of mercy: Four witnesses made requests for mercy; and, under *State v. Sapp*, 366 S.C. 283, 294, 621 S.E.2d 883, 888 (S.C. 2005), the cumulative evidence presented at PCR does not support counsel error and prejudice, (II Supp. App. p. 160);
- As to Lindsey Issue 4, failure to adequately present Dr. Melikian: Lindsey showed that Dr. Melikian reviewed more information for the PCR hearing, than for trial; however, she was not able to state with any clarity what particular information she lacked in 2004 that was critical to a revised assessment; she, in fact, testified “that her 2010 diagnosis of mental illness under Axis I, II, III, IV would be the same as her earlier conclusion, only that the degree of the severity of the depression was greater than she earlier thought,” (II Supp. App. pp. 178-179);
- As to Lindsey Issue 5, failing to present family history of mental illness: “there was some evidence presented of some family members’ mental health problems involving whether aunt Bessie Smith had attempted suicide ... and that Steve Pilgrim suffered from illnesses of panic attack and anxiety attack and that his daughter was being treated for an illness described as panic attack,” (II Supp. App. pp. 182-183);
- As to Lindsey Issue 7, failure to retain a social history/social worker: The PCR court considered this claim to present a combination of Issues 5 (family mental history), 7 (social worker), and 9 (time spent in investigation), in considering Issue VII, (II Supp. App. p. 195); the Court resolved: Lindsey “failed to prove either deficient performance or prejudice ... counsel retained a mitigation investigator Lenora Topp who acquired background data concerning the defendant, acquired an understanding of the family from

Marion Lindsey and his mother and provided her summaries to the defense team for their use in deciding what information to present” and Lindsey “failed to show how this evidence from the social worker – or its absence – undermined the confidence in the verdict under the standards of *Strickland*,” (II Supp. App. pp. 196-197);

- As to Lindsey Issue 8, failure to present evidence from EMS worker Vincent Bell: at trial, “the defense was able to present testimony [from EMS worker Joseph Stewart] that Lindsey told him that he shot himself in the head. ROA 1674” and Dr. Melikian referenced same in her testimony; the comment attributed to Bell that Lindsey said to let him die is consistent with that testimony; “the new evidence does not differ in subject matter much less ‘in a substantial way’ from the evidence already presented at sentencing” and Lindsey “fails to explain how such evidence, had it been presented would have done anything to change the jury’s perception of Lindsey’s moral culpability or mental state for such a brutal and horrific crime.” (II Supp. App. pp. 266-267).

These individual findings and conclusions are sound. Lindsey did not show any new category of evidence or new medical diagnosis different that presented at trial; rather, his PCR case rested on a great deal of cumulative or evidence of limited impact. Given that the record supports the PCR judge’s factual findings and those findings support Lindsey failed to carry his *Strickland* burden of proof, Lindsey has not shown that certiorari review is warranted.

Adequacy of the Investigation

Lindsey argues counsel was deficient because they failed to spend enough time in investigation. (Petition, p. 36). Taking his own assertions as true, counsel had over a month to investigate¹⁵ and had the assistance of experts, specifically, a mitigation investigator, a psychologist and a psychiatrist. (See Petition, p. 36).¹⁶ These facts are certainly far from cases

¹⁵ But see App. pp. 2939-2940, Time Sheet for defense counsel Brannon, showing first meeting with client on March 12, 2004, and research beginning on March 15, 2004, before jury selection on May 17, 2004. The Order appointing counsel was signed March 5, 2004, (App. pp. 2941-42; see also App. p. 2297, defense counsel Brannon confirming accuracy of time records).

¹⁶ See also App. p. 2937, Defense Voucher submitted by Public Defender Bartosh reflecting consultation and expenses for Drs. Brawley and Melikian, and also consultation with Dr. Absher, along with significant travel expenses for mitigation investigation Topp in the amount of

where counsel failed to investigate, *see Williams*, 529 U.S. at 395, or limited investigation to only two, narrow sources, *Wiggins*, 539 U.S. at 524-35. *See Porter v. McCollum*, 558 U.S. 30, 40 (2009) (counsel “failed to uncover and present any evidence of [the defendant’s] mental health or impairment, his family background, or his military service”). That type of blatant insufficient investigation will not meet counsel’s responsibility to investigate as the Supreme Court has recently reaffirmed. *Andrus v. Texas*, ___ U.S. ___, 140 S.Ct. 1875, 1877 (2020) (counsel deficient when counsel “failed to even look for” evidence of a “grim” life history).

The time spent in preparation may lend context to the failings. *See Williams*, 529 U.S. at 395 (counsel waited “until a week before the trial” to begin to prepare for penalty phase). However, far more important is the actual results of the investigation. *See Wiggins*, 539 U.S. at 534 (“Counsel’s pursuit of bifurcation until the eve of sentencing and their partial presentation of a mitigation case suggest that their incomplete investigation was the result of inattention, not reasoned strategic judgment.”). For instance, in *Bobby v. Van Hook*, the Supreme Court found no issue with the investigation when counsel “looked into enlisting a mitigation specialist when the trial was still five weeks away,” and began working with an expert witness “more than a month before trial.” 558 U.S. at 9-10. *See also Owens v. Stirling*, ___ F.3d ___, No. 18-8, 2020 WL 4197742, at *12 (4th Cir. July 22, 2020) (rejecting complaint that “lawyers waited too long to begin investigating” where record shows counsel had “nearly two months” for investigation which “far exceeded the one week at issue in *Williams* ... and roughly equaled the amount of time in *Bobby*”). Again, the emphasis is on the investigation itself. Here, the PCR court correctly found much of the PCR evidence was based on the investigation trial counsel had conducted. (II

\$593.05; and App. pp. 2938, Defense Voucher for defense counsel Brannon showing 107 hours for out of court services and 62.5 hours in court services.

Supp. App. p. 261). Being in the same vein of mitigation presented, the omitted details would not have significantly altered the case, and Lindsey failed to show prejudice. (II Supp. App. p. 263).

Lindsey's offered points of error in the PCR court's reasoning fall into six general areas which are addressed separately below. None show factual or legal error by the PCR judge in resolving Lindsey's *Strickland* claims.

(1) *Rod Tullis Testimony*

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